
Agenda 
Athens Planning Commission 

Wednesday, June 17, 2026 at 1:00PM 
 
 

Streaming is available https://www.ci.athens.oh.us/video               
 

 

Establish Quorum 

Disposition of Minutes 

• Minutes from the May 6, 2026 meeting 

Cases 

Communications 

• Title 21 Application- Avanelle Crossing 

Reports 

Opportunity for Citizens to Speak About Items Not Covered on the Agenda 

Announcements & Other Business 

Adjournment 

 

 

Page 1 of 57

https://www.ci.athens.oh.us/video%20%20%20%20%20%20%20%20%20%20%20%20%20%20


Athens City Planning Commission 
A regular meeting of the Athens City Planning Commission was held in the City Council 
Chambers, third floor of City Hall, on May 6, 2026, at 12:00 PM. 

1. Call to Order 

Chair John Kotowski called the meeting to order at 12:02 PM and administered the oath to those 
in the audience intending to speak before the Commission. A quorum was established.  

Planning Commission Members 

• Chris Knisely, Vice Chair-Present 
• John Kotowski, Chair-Present 
• Steve Patterson, Mayor-Absent 
• Andy Stone, Service-Safety Director-Present 
• Ally Rapp Lee-Present 

Staff Present: 

• Tom Pyle-Director of Development and Code Enforcement 
• Meghan Jenning-City Planner 

 

2. Approval of the minutes from the March 4, 2026, meeting. 

Motion: Ms. Knisely moved to approve the minutes as presented. 
Second: Ms. Rapp Lee seconded the motion. 
Vote: Motion passed unanimously. 
 

3. Cases 

No cases were presented. 
 

4. Communications 
 
Ohio Recovery Housing Presentation and Q & A 
 
Ms. Rapp Lee recused herself. 
 
Overview 

Page 2 of 57



Mr. Pyle introduced Kelly Manns, Interim Co-Director of Ohio Recovery Housing. He explained 
that he had recently attended a meeting that included a presentation regarding the operation and 
regulation of recovery housing in the State of Ohio. Believing the information would be 
beneficial to both the community and the Planning Commission, he invited Ms. Manns to 
provide a presentation and answer questions. 
 
Presentation: Ohio Recovery Housing 
 
Kelly Manns, Interim Co-Director of Ohio Recovery Housing (ORH), provided a presentation 
regarding recovery housing standards, certification requirements, and regulatory oversight in 
Ohio. Key points included: 

• Ohio Recovery Housing is the state affiliate of the National Alliance for Recovery 
Residences (NARR) and works to increase access to affordable, high-quality recovery 
housing for individuals recovering from substance use disorders.  

• Recovery housing is defined in Ohio Revised Code as alcohol and drug-free housing that 
provides peer support and recovery assistance but is not a treatment facility.  

• Recovery housing operates under landlord-tenant principles and provides a resident-
driven length of stay based on individual recovery needs and compliance with house 
rules.  

• ORH promotes recovery housing as an evidence-based practice and provides 
certification, training, technical assistance, and educational resources.  

• Recovery residences must maintain a homelike environment and support residents 
through peer engagement, recovery planning, and leadership development.  

• Ohio recognizes four levels of recovery housing:  
o Level I – Peer-run housing 
o Level II – Monitored housing  
o Level III – Supervised housing  
o Level IV – Residential treatment facilities regulated separately by the Ohio 

Department of Behavioral Health  
• ORH reported that data indicate recovery housing is associated with increased 

employment, improved family relationships, reduced substance use, and decreased public 
expenditures. 

• ORH reported that recovery housing generates economic benefits through workforce 
participation, tax contributions, and local spending.  

• Recovery housing operators must comply with landlord-tenant laws, fair housing laws, 
building and safety codes, employment laws, and applicable tax regulations.  

• Legislative changes enacted through House Bill 33 require recovery homes to register 
with the Ohio Department of Behavioral Health and obtain approved credentialing to 
operate legally.  

Page 3 of 57



• Effective January 1, 2025, recovery homes must be credentialed or have an active ORH 
application to operate in Ohio.  

• Behavioral health providers may only refer individuals to recovery residences listed on 
the statewide registry. 

• ORH's certification process includes policy and procedure review, operational 
assessment, on-site inspections, interviews, and compliance verification.  

• ORH receives and investigates complaints involving certified recovery residences and 
coordinates with state agencies regarding enforcement actions when necessary.  

• Information regarding complaint procedures and ORH resources was provided. 
 
Questions and Discussion 

• Mr. Stone asked how recovery housing operators are funded and whether residents sign 
leases. 

• Ms. Manns explained that residents sign leases and pay rent directly to the operator. 
Recovery housing does not receive funding through Medicaid or insurance, although 
some local boards or organizations may provide temporary financial assistance to 
residents. 

• Mr. Stone asked how operators enforce drug and alcohol-free policies. 
• Ms. Manns stated that certified homes are required to have policies and procedures 

addressing resident relapse and disruption. Staff may administer drug tests, refer residents 
to higher levels of care, or address safety concerns as necessary. 

• Mr. Stone asked if there was a way the local government could find out what level the 
recovery house is registered under. 

• Ms. Manns explained that once an application is submitted, the recovery home's level 
appears on the Ohio Recovery Housing registry but not before when they originally file 
registration with the Ohio Department of Behavioral Health. 

• Mr. Kotowski Asked why some recovery housing residents are brought to Athens from 
other areas of Ohio. 

• Ms. Manns stated that some individuals benefit from leaving environments that may 
negatively affect their recovery, while others may choose to remain near supportive 
family and community networks. She noted that resident placement should be a resident 
driven choice. 

• Mr. Pyle asked whether ORH accepts complaints from community members regarding 
recovery homes and whether continued violations could affect a home's certification 
status. 

• Ms. Manns confirmed that complaints regarding occupancy, parking, noise, property 
maintenance, and other concerns may be submitted to ORH. She stated that complaints 
may result in investigations and unannounced site visits, and that ongoing issues could 
jeopardize a home's certification.  

• Mr. Pyle noted that the Code Office will involve ORH when complaints are received and 
encouraged residents to submit complaints directly to ORH as well. 

Page 4 of 57



• Mr. Pyle asked whether a properly operated recovery home should have little impact on 
neighboring properties.  

• Ms. Manns responded that properly operated recovery homes generally blend into 
neighborhoods and often develop positive relationships with nearby residents. 

• Mr. Swank asked whether recovery homes are more successful in certain zoning districts 
or locations. 

• Ms. Manns stated that success depends primarily on the quality of the operator and 
management practices rather than the location of the property. 

• Mr. Swank asked how House Bill 58 could affect recovery housing operations and 
communities. 

• Ms. Manns explained that the bill remains under consideration but may eliminate the 
current 18-month certification window and strengthen enforcement if enacted. 

• Mr. Swank asked whether residents generally achieve better recovery outcomes close to 
home or farther away. 

• Ms. Manns stated that outcomes vary by individual circumstances and family support 
systems. 

• Mr. Swank asked how Nex Level Recovery Housing was able to begin operating in 
Athens without certification. 

• Ms. Manns explained that Ohio Recovery Housing was unaware of the operation until 
complaints were received and emphasized the importance of community reporting. 

• Ms. Olson shared concerns about the former recovery housing operation in her 
neighborhood, including resident turnover, neighborhood impacts, and lack of 
communication. 

• Mr. Stone stated that the Commission is seeking to better understand the factors driving 
the growth of recovery housing and whether local regulations may be needed. 

• Ms. Rubin asked about the complaint and enforcement process for uncertified recovery 
housing facilities.  

• Ms. Manns explained that complaints involving uncertified facilities are referred to the 
Ohio Department of Behavioral Health, which oversees enforcement. Ohio Recovery 
Housing does not control that process.  

• Ms. Rubin asked whether operators face consequences for operating before becoming 
certified.  

• Ms. Manns stated that Ohio Recovery Housing may consider such conduct during the 
certification review process and could deny certification, but state registration 
enforcement falls under the authority of the state agency.  

• Ms. Rubin sked when House Bill 58 would become effective if enacted.  
• Ms. Manns stated that legislation typically takes effect approximately one year after 

enactment unless emergency provisions are included. 
• Mr. Stone asked whether Ohio Recovery Housing reviews lease provisions related to 

responsibilities such as snow removal.  
• Ms. Manns stated that residents cannot be required to perform maintenance duties such as 

snow removal as a condition of their lease, although separate paid work agreements are 
permitted.  

Page 5 of 57



• Ms. Bain expressed concerns about the impact of recovery housing on neighborhoods and 
encouraged the Commission to consider resident input, occupancy limits, and 
enforcement issues. 

• Mr. Stauffer expressed concerns about recovery housing occupancy, density, and impacts 
on R-1 neighborhoods, and encouraged additional oversight and information gathering. 
 
 

5. Reports 

Meghan Jennings, City Planner 

• Ms. Jennings reported on the Comprehensive Plan update, including upcoming public 
engagement opportunities, stakeholder outreach, and the anticipated timeline for plan 
development and adoption. 

Tom Pyle, Director of Development and Code Enforcement 

• Nothing to report 

 

6. Opportunity for Citizens to Speak About Items Not Listed on the Agenda 
 
• Ms. Hartwick expressed concerns about the possible Avanelle Crossing major 

subdivision, citing limited access to transportation and essential services. While 
supporting affordable housing, she questioned whether the location would be suitable for 
residents who rely on those resources. 

• Mr. Kotowski stated that the property is located within the City's three-mile 
extraterritorial subdivision review area and noted that, if determined to be a major 
subdivision, the proposal would be subject to the applicable review process. 

• Mr. Stone reported that staff currently considers the proposal a major subdivision and that 
it would require Planning Commission review if that determination remains unchanged. 

• Mr. Pyle confirmed that the plans currently submitted are considered a major subdivision 
and noted that the developer is exploring revisions to the proposal. 

• Ms. Hartwick asked whether residents of the affected communities would have an 
opportunity to attend future meetings and participate in discussions regarding the project. 

• Mr. Stone explained that meetings between staff and developers are administrative in 
nature and not public meetings. He also noted that plans on file with the Code Office are 
public records available for review. 

• Ms. Hartwick reiterated concerns about access to essential services and transportation, 
and asked to be notified of future developments regarding the project. 

Page 6 of 57



• Mr. Swank asked how concerned residents should communicate questions and concerns 
regarding the project and sought clarification on which governmental body has 
jurisdiction, given that the property is located outside the city limits. 

• Mr. Stone received clarification from Mr. Swank that the property is located in Athens 
Township and advised residents to direct concerns to the Athens Township Trustees or 
Athens County Commissioners. He also noted that the county planner is involved in the 
meetings with the developers for the possible subdivision.  

 

7. Announcements & Other Business 

• No announcements or other business 

 
8. Adjournment 

Motion: Mr. Stone motioned to adjourn. 
Second: Ms. Knisely seconded the motion. 
Vote: Motion passed unanimously. 

Page 7 of 57



Page 8 of 57



Page 9 of 57



Page 10 of 57



Page 11 of 57



Page 12 of 57



Page 13 of 57



Page 14 of 57



Page 15 of 57



Page 16 of 57



Page 17 of 57



Page 18 of 57



Page 19 of 57



Page 20 of 57



Page 21 of 57



Page 22 of 57



Page 23 of 57



Page 24 of 57



Page 25 of 57



Page 26 of 57



Page 27 of 57



Page 28 of 57



Page 29 of 57



Page 30 of 57



Page 31 of 57



Page 32 of 57



Page 33 of 57



Page 34 of 57



Page 35 of 57



Page 36 of 57



Page 37 of 57



Page 38 of 57



Page 39 of 57



Page 40 of 57



Page 41 of 57



Page 42 of 57



Page 43 of 57



Page 44 of 57



Page 45 of 57



Page 46 of 57



Page 47 of 57



Page 48 of 57



Page 49 of 57



Page 50 of 57



Page 51 of 57



Page 52 of 57



Page 53 of 57



Page 54 of 57



Page 55 of 57



Page 56 of 57



Page 57 of 57


	 Establish Quorum
	 Disposition of Minutes:
	 May 6, 2026
	5.6.2026 PC Minutes


	 Cases
	 Communications
	 Title 21 Application — Avanelle Crossing
	Code Enforcement_20260615_092515
	Avanelle Crossing Main plans
	Avanelle Crossing Sewer Design Map Exhibit 1
	Avanelle Crossing Sewer Design without Map
	Avanelle Crossing Water Supply Report


	 Reports
	 Opportunity for citizens to speak about items not covered on agenda
	 Announcements & Other Business:
	 Adjournment

